

**IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA  
SOUTHWESTERN DIVISION**

WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE	)	
	)	
Plaintiff,	)	
	)	
v.	)	Case No. _____
	)	
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE	)	
INTERIOR, SALLY JEWELL, in her official	)	
Capacity as Secretary of the United States	)	
Department of the Interior; BUREAU OF	)	
INDIAN AFFAIRS, and MICHAEL S. BLACK,	)	
in his official Capacity as Director of the Bureau	)	
of Indian Affairs	)	
	)	
Defendants.	)	

---

**COMPLAINT**

---

Plaintiff Western Energy Alliance (the “Alliance”), by and through its undersigned counsel, respectfully submits this Complaint seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants United States Department of the Interior (“DOI”), Secretary Sally Jewell, the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA,” and collectively with DOI, the “Agencies”), and BIA Director Michael S. Black, and states as follows:

**NATURE OF THE CASE**

1. This case, brought pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 551 *et seq.* (the “APA”), arises out of the Agencies’ improper promulgation of a final rule entitled *Rights-of-Way on Indian Land*, 80 Fed. Reg. 72492-72549 (Nov. 19, 2015) (the “Final Rule”).
2. The Final Rule exceeds the authority of the Secretary of DOI (the “Secretary”) as legislatively granted under the 1948 Rights-of-Way for All Purposes Act, 25 U.S.C. § 323-328

(the “1948 Act”), is contrary to existing federal law regarding jurisdiction, taxation, and property rights within federally granted rights-of-way on Indian Lands, and is both arbitrary and capricious.

3. The Agencies have also failed to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 *et seq.* (“NEPA”).

4. Accordingly, the Alliance brings this action seeking a declaration that the Final Rule violates the APA, and a preliminary and permanent injunction should be issued to prevent its implementation.

#### **THE PARTIES**

5. The Alliance represents more than 450 members involved in all aspects of exploration, production, and transportation of oil and natural gas on federal and Indian lands in North Dakota and across the western United States.

6. DOI is an agency of the United States within the meaning of the APA. 5 U.S.C. § 551(1).

7. Defendant Salley Jewell is the Secretary of DOI and has ultimate responsibility for the Final Rule.

8. BIA is an agency of the United States within the meaning of the APA. 5 U.S.C. § 551(1). BIA is charged with administering the provisions of the Final Rule on behalf of the federal government.

9. Defendant Michael S. Black is the Director of BIA and has ultimate responsibility for administering the Final Rule.

## **JURISDICTION AND VENUE**

10. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction) and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 702 (judicial review of final agency action). This Court can grant declaratory and injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (declaratory judgment), 28 U.S.C. § 2202 (injunctive relief), and 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, for violations of, *inter alia*, the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706.

11. Venue is proper in the U.S. District Court in this District, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e), because, *inter alia*, the Final Rule impacts real property in this District and the Alliance has members incorporated, residing and transacting business within this district.

## **GENERAL ALLEGATIONS**

### **STATUTORY BACKGROUND**

12. The 1948 Act was originally conceived solely as a legislative enactment permitting the Secretary to grant rights-of-way over restricted Osage Indian lands in Oklahoma. S. Rep. No. 823 (1948). In response to the proposed legislation, the Senate requested the Secretary's insights, and the Secretary responded by providing new proposed legislation that was applicable to all Indian lands. *Id.* at 3-4. Specifically, the Secretary proposed legislation wherein Congress would vest the Secretary with the authority to "grant" rights-of-way to applicants over all Indian lands. *Id.* Prior to 1948, Congress has vested the Secretary with authority to grant use-specific rights-of-way over Indians lands – *i.e.* railroads, pipelines, and public roads, *see* 25 U.S.C. §§ 312, 321, 311 – whereas, the 1948 Act vested the Secretary with authority to grant rights-of-way for all purposes. 25 U.S.C. § 323.

13. Rights-of-way granted in accordance with the 1948 Act are transfers of a real property interest by the fee landowner, the United States, to an applicant. *Reservation Tel. Co-*

*op v. Henry*, 278 F. Supp. 2d 1015, 1023 (D.N.D. 2003); *see also Burlington N. R.R. Co. v. Red Wolf*, 196 F.3d 1059, 1063-64 (9th Cir. 1999), *as amended on denial of reh'g* (Jan. 6, 2000) (“Congress has acted within its plenary power to bestow rights to a parcel of land upon one party, thereby limiting the rights of another to the same land. . . . A right-of-way created by Congressional grant is a transfer of a property interest”). Rights-of-way granted pursuant to the 1948 Act do not establish a consensual relationship between the applicant/grantee and the owner of the beneficial interest in the land, the Indian landowner; rather, 1948 Act grants only establish a consensual relationship between the fee interest owner, the United States, as the “Grantor” and the applicant/grantee. *Big Horn Cty. Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Adams*, 219 F.3d 944, 951 (9th Cir. 1999); *see also Red Wolf*, 196 F.3d at 1064.

14. Generally, therefore, Indian tribes do not possess jurisdiction to regulate the activities or conduct of non-Indians within federally granted 1948 Act rights-of-way. *Strate v. A-1 Contractors*, 520 U.S. 438, 456 (1997); *State of Mont. Dep’t of Transp. v. King*, 191 F.3d 1108, 1112 (9th Cir. 1999). Nor do Indian landowners possess the authority to unilaterally terminate 1948 Act rights-of-way without the involvement and consent of the Secretary. *Kuykendall v. Phoenix Area Dir., BIA*, 8 IBIA 76, 88 n.20, 1980 WL 26390, at \*4 (1980) (collecting case).

#### **THE PROPOSED RULE**

15. On June 17, 2014, the Agencies published in the Federal Register a proposed rule entitled: “Rights-of-Way on Indian Land.” *See* 79 Fed. Reg. 34455 (the “Proposed Rule”).

16. The Proposed Rule was vastly different than the right-of-way regulations currently implementing the 1948 Act. Specifically, contrary to existing federal judicial precedent, the Proposed Rule attempted to state DOI’s new position that 1948 Act rights-of-way

*did not* transfer an interest in real property to applicants/grantees, that 1948 Act rights-of-way established consensual relationships between applicants/grantees and the beneficial interest owner, and that Indian tribes retained jurisdiction over non-Indian activities and conduct within federally granted rights-of-way, including the right to unilaterally terminate such rights-of-way.

17. In fact, the Proposed Rule very closely mirrored regulations previously promulgated by the Secretary to implement Indian lands surface leases. *See* 77 Fed. Reg. 72440 (Dec. 5, 2012) (now 25 C.F.R. Part 162). The legislation authorizing the Secretary to review and approve Indian land surface leases, however, is vastly different than the 1948 Act.

18. In response to the Proposed Rule, the Alliance submitted extremely detailed comments to the Agencies on November 26, 2014. The Alliance's public comment included a thorough redline of the entire Proposed Rule identifying the Alliance's suggested modifications to the Proposed Rule, as well as a detailed analysis concerning the Alliance's views on the legality of certain provisions included within the Proposed Rule. In addition, the Alliance also met with the Agencies to discuss and address the Alliance's concerns with the Proposed Rule on or about September 29, 2014. Despite the Alliance's detailed comments and meeting with the Agencies, the Agencies did not have any further discussions with the Alliance regarding the Proposed Rule or Final Rule until after the Final Rule was published.

19. On November 19, 2015, the Agencies published the Final Rule in the Federal Register. *See* 80 Fed. Reg. 72492.

20. On November 17, 2015, the Alliance requested an extension of the Final Rule's effective date, and again reiterated that request in a meeting with the Agencies on December 9, 2015. Based on the Alliance's request, and requests from others including tribal representatives, the Final Rule's implementation date was extended 90 days, until March 21, 2016.

21. On March 3, 2016, after again attempting to work with the Agencies to reform the Final Rule, the Alliance requested an additional extension of the effective date. The Agencies, however, have not agreed to further delay implementation of the Final Rule.

22. The Final Rule's effective date is currently scheduled for March 21, 2016.

**FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF**  
**(Declaratory Judgment – Final Rule Exceeds Delegated Authority)**

23. The Alliance hereby re-alleges and incorporates by this reference all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 22 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

24. The APA empowers reviewing courts to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action” that is “in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). In addition, the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, *et seq.* empowers the Court to “declare the rights and other legal relations of any interested party seeking such declaration, whether or not further relief is or could be sought.”

25. The Final Rule purports to be promulgated pursuant to the 1948 Act.

26. Indian tribes are not empowered to regulate non-Indian activity within rights-of-way granted under the 1948 Act.

27. Nevertheless, the Final Rule improperly seeks to: (i) recognize the applicability of tribal law to 1948 Act rights-of-way; (ii) bestow tribes with jurisdiction over non-Indians within the same; and (iii) permit tribal law to supersede the Final Rule.

28. The Final Rule would further permit tribes, and potentially Indian landowners, to terminate 1948 Act rights-of-way without the Secretary's involvement or consent.

29. There is no authority or support for these provisions of the Final Rule in the 1948 Act.

30. The Alliance is entitled to a declaration from the Court that the Final Rule exceeds the Agencies' statutory authority under the 1948 Act, and therefore must be set aside, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706.

**SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF**  
**(Declaratory Judgment – Final Rule is Contrary to Law)**

31. The Alliance hereby re-alleges and incorporates by this reference all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

32. The APA requires an agency action to be set aside if it is “not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

33. Under the 1948 Act, rights-of-way create, in the grantee, an interest in real property equivalent to alienated, non-Indian land.

34. Nevertheless, the Final Rule suggests that “[a] right-of-way is a non-possessory interest in land, and title does not pass to the grantee.” 80 Fed. Reg. at 72538.

35. The Final Rule further authorizes tribal jurisdiction over BIA-granted rights-of-way.

36. These provisions are directly contrary to existing case law confirming that tribes are without jurisdiction to regulate non-Indian conduct on lands that have lost their Indian character and are viewed as alienated, non-Indian land – such as rights-of-way.

37. The Alliance is entitled to a declaration from the Court that the Final Rule is contrary to law, and therefore must be set aside, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706.

**THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF**  
**(Declaratory Judgment – Final Rule is Arbitrary and Capricious)**

38. The Alliance hereby re-alleges and incorporates by this reference all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 37 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

39. The APA empowers the Court to set aside the Final Rule if it is “arbitrary, capricious, [or] an abuse of discretion.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

40. Where an agency rule lacks sufficient explanation for its decision or failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, the agency action is arbitrary and capricious. *Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 463 U.S. 29, 41-44 (1983).

41. The Final Rule represents a significant departure from prior policies of the Agencies that recognized that: (i) federal jurisdiction is supreme within rights-of-way; (ii) BIA is not bound by tribal decisions involving the validity or enforceability or federally granted rights; and (iii) rights-of-way are freely assignable and may be mortgaged without additional consents or approvals.

42. The Agencies have provided no explanation or justification to explain the departure from these prior policy positions.

43. The Alliance is entitled to a declaration from the Court that the Final Rule is arbitrary and capricious, and therefore must be set aside, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706.

**FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF**  
**(Declaratory Judgment – Final Rule Violates NEPA)**

44. The Alliance hereby re-alleges and incorporates by this reference all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 43 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

45. NEPA requires federal agencies to prepare Environmental Impact Statements for all “major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C).

46. NEPA applied to the Agencies when promulgating the Final Rule.

47. The Agencies decision not to undertake an Environmental Assessment violates NEPA.



48. The Alliance is entitled to a declaration from the Court that the Final Rule violates NEPA, and therefore must be set aside.

**FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF**  
**(Permanent Injunction)**

49. The Alliance hereby re-alleges and incorporates by this reference all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

50. Implementation of the Final Rule as currently scheduled on March 21, 2016, will cause the Alliance and its membership immediate and irreparable harm that arises from the Agencies' inability to handle the administrative burden attendant with implementation of the Final Rule, as well as from the Final Rule's impact on property rights, and the resulting economic damages that that are unrecoverable due to sovereign immunity.

51. In light of the extensive list of improprieties with the Final Rule as currently drafted, the Alliance is likely to succeed on the merits and establish that the Final Rule should be set aside, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706.

52. A permanent injunction will not result in any injury to the Agencies, as there currently exists (and has existed for the past 30 years) a system for addressing rights-of-way on Indian lands that comports with the 1948 Act. It does not constitute prejudice to the Agencies to have to follow the law in endeavoring to update the rights-of-way regulation. Particularly when compared to the irreparable harm and economic injury to the Alliance and its membership, the balance of harms weighs in favor of injunctive relief.

53. The public interest favors resolving the Alliance's challenges to the Final Rule before implementing sweeping changes to the rights-of-way process.

**PRAYER FOR RELIEF**

WHEREFORE, in light of the foregoing, Plaintiff Western Energy Alliance respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment in its favor and against the Agencies on each Claim for Relief set forth herein, and issue the following relief:

- (a) For declaratory relief, decreeing:
  - (i) The Final Rule exceeds the Secretary's authority as delegated by Congress;
  - (ii) The Final Rule is contrary to existing federal law;
  - (iii) The Final Rule is arbitrary and capricious;
  - (iv) The Agencies violated NEPA in promulgating the Final Rule.
- (b) For an Order setting-aside and vacating the Final Rule.
- (c) For preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, precluding the Agencies from implementing the Final Rule as scheduled on March 21, 2016; and
- (d) For any further, necessary, or proper relief that the Court deems appropriate.

Dated this 11<sup>th</sup> day of March, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Jeffrey M. Lippa

Robert Thompson III (*Pro hac vice* forthcoming)

Jeffrey M. Lippa

**GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP**

1200 17<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 2400

Denver, CO 80202

Telephone: 303-572-6500

Facsimile: 303-572-6540

Email: [thompsonIII@gtlaw.com](mailto:thompsonIII@gtlaw.com)

[lippaj@gtlaw.com](mailto:lippaj@gtlaw.com)

**ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF WESTERN  
ENERGY ALLIANCE**

# CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

**I. (a) PLAINTIFFS**  
 WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff \_\_\_\_\_  
*(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)*

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)  
 Jeffrey M. Lippa, Robert Thompson III  
 GREENBERG TRAUERIG, LLP, 1200 17th Street, Suite 2400  
 Denver, CO 80202; (303) 572-6500

**DEFENDANTS**  
 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; MICHAEL S. BLACK

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant \_\_\_\_\_  
*(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)*

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

Attorneys (If Known) \_\_\_\_\_

**II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION** (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

1 U.S. Government Plaintiff

2 U.S. Government Defendant

3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)

4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)

**III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES** (Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff and One Box for Defendant)

	PTF	DEF		PTF	DEF
Citizen of This State	<input type="checkbox"/> 1	<input type="checkbox"/> 1	Incorporated or Principal Place of Business in This State	<input type="checkbox"/> 4	<input type="checkbox"/> 4
Citizen of Another State	<input type="checkbox"/> 2	<input type="checkbox"/> 2	Incorporated and Principal Place of Business in Another State	<input type="checkbox"/> 5	<input type="checkbox"/> 5
Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	<input type="checkbox"/> 3	<input type="checkbox"/> 3	Foreign Nation	<input type="checkbox"/> 6	<input type="checkbox"/> 6

**IV. NATURE OF SUIT** (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

CONTRACT	TORTS	FORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES
<input type="checkbox"/> 110 Insurance <input type="checkbox"/> 120 Marine <input type="checkbox"/> 130 Miller Act <input type="checkbox"/> 140 Negotiable Instrument <input type="checkbox"/> 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment <input type="checkbox"/> 151 Medicare Act <input type="checkbox"/> 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans) <input type="checkbox"/> 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits <input type="checkbox"/> 160 Stockholders' Suits <input type="checkbox"/> 190 Other Contract <input type="checkbox"/> 195 Contract Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 196 Franchise	<b>PERSONAL INJURY</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 310 Airplane <input type="checkbox"/> 315 Airplane Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 320 Assault, Libel & Slander <input type="checkbox"/> 330 Federal Employers' Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 340 Marine <input type="checkbox"/> 345 Marine Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 350 Motor Vehicle <input type="checkbox"/> 355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 360 Other Personal Injury <input type="checkbox"/> 362 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice	<input type="checkbox"/> 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 <input type="checkbox"/> 690 Other	<input type="checkbox"/> 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 <input type="checkbox"/> 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157	<input type="checkbox"/> 375 False Claims Act <input type="checkbox"/> 400 State Reapportionment <input type="checkbox"/> 410 Antitrust <input type="checkbox"/> 430 Banks and Banking <input type="checkbox"/> 450 Commerce <input type="checkbox"/> 460 Deportation <input type="checkbox"/> 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations <input type="checkbox"/> 480 Consumer Credit <input type="checkbox"/> 490 Cable/Sat TV <input type="checkbox"/> 850 Securities/Commodities/Exchange <input type="checkbox"/> 890 Other Statutory Actions <input type="checkbox"/> 891 Agricultural Acts <input type="checkbox"/> 893 Environmental Matters <input type="checkbox"/> 895 Freedom of Information Act <input type="checkbox"/> 896 Arbitration <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision <input type="checkbox"/> 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes
<b>REAL PROPERTY</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 210 Land Condemnation <input type="checkbox"/> 220 Foreclosure <input type="checkbox"/> 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment <input type="checkbox"/> 240 Torts to Land <input type="checkbox"/> 245 Tort Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 290 All Other Real Property	<b>CIVIL RIGHTS</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 440 Other Civil Rights <input type="checkbox"/> 441 Voting <input type="checkbox"/> 442 Employment <input type="checkbox"/> 443 Housing/Accommodations <input type="checkbox"/> 445 Amer w/Disabilities - Employment <input type="checkbox"/> 446 Amer w/Disabilities - Other <input type="checkbox"/> 448 Education	<b>LABOR</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 710 Fair Labor Standards Act <input type="checkbox"/> 720 Labor/Management Relations <input type="checkbox"/> 740 Railway Labor Act <input type="checkbox"/> 751 Family and Medical Leave Act <input type="checkbox"/> 790 Other Labor Litigation <input type="checkbox"/> 791 Employee Retirement Income Security Act	<b>PROPERTY RIGHTS</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 820 Copyrights <input type="checkbox"/> 830 Patent <input type="checkbox"/> 840 Trademark	
	<b>PERSONAL INJURY</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 367 Health Care/Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability <input type="checkbox"/> 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability	<b>LABOR</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 710 Fair Labor Standards Act <input type="checkbox"/> 720 Labor/Management Relations <input type="checkbox"/> 740 Railway Labor Act <input type="checkbox"/> 751 Family and Medical Leave Act <input type="checkbox"/> 790 Other Labor Litigation <input type="checkbox"/> 791 Employee Retirement Income Security Act	<b>SOCIAL SECURITY</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 861 HIA (1395ff) <input type="checkbox"/> 862 Black Lung (923) <input type="checkbox"/> 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) <input type="checkbox"/> 864 SSID Title XVI <input type="checkbox"/> 865 RSI (405(g))	
	<b>PRISONER PETITIONS</b> Habeas Corpus: <input type="checkbox"/> 463 Alien Detainee <input type="checkbox"/> 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence <input type="checkbox"/> 530 General <input type="checkbox"/> 535 Death Penalty Other: <input type="checkbox"/> 540 Mandamus & Other <input type="checkbox"/> 550 Civil Rights <input type="checkbox"/> 555 Prison Condition <input type="checkbox"/> 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement	<b>IMMIGRATION</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 462 Naturalization Application <input type="checkbox"/> 465 Other Immigration Actions	<b>FEDERAL TAX SUITS</b> <input type="checkbox"/> 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) <input type="checkbox"/> 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609	

**V. ORIGIN** (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

1 Original Proceeding     2 Removed from State Court     3 Remanded from Appellate Court     4 Reinstated or Reopened     5 Transferred from Another District (specify) \_\_\_\_\_     6 Multidistrict Litigation

**VI. CAUSE OF ACTION** Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):  
 5 U.S.C. § 702

Brief description of cause:  
 Request for judicial review and injunction of final rule entitled Rights-of-Way on Indian Land, 80 Fed. Reg. 72492

**VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:**  CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.    DEMAND \$ \_\_\_\_\_    CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: JURY DEMAND:  Yes  No

**VIII. RELATED CASE(S) IF ANY** (See instructions): JUDGE \_\_\_\_\_ DOCKET NUMBER \_\_\_\_\_

DATE: 03/11/2016    SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD:

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY: RECEIPT # \_\_\_\_\_ AMOUNT \_\_\_\_\_ APPLYING IFP \_\_\_\_\_ JUDGE \_\_\_\_\_ MAG JUDGE \_\_\_\_\_

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of North Dakota

WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE

Plaintiff(s)

v.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; and MICHAEL S. BLACK

Defendant(s)

Civil Action No.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
1849 C Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20240

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are: Robert Thompson, III and Jeffrey M. Lippa GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP 1200 17th Street, Suite 2400, Denver, CO 80202 Telephone: 303-572-6500 Facsimile: 303-572-6540 Email: thompsonIII@gtlaw.com; lippaj@gtlaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. \_\_\_\_\_

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

*(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))*

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* \_\_\_\_\_  
was received by me on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ .

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* \_\_\_\_\_ , who is  
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

Other *(specify)*: \_\_\_\_\_

My fees are \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for travel and \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for services, for a total of \$ \_\_\_\_\_ 0.00 .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's signature*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Printed name and title*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's address*

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of North Dakota

WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE

Plaintiff(s)

v.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; and MICHAEL S. BLACK

Defendant(s)

Civil Action No.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) SALLY JEWELL, in her official Capacity as Secretary of the United States Department of the Interior
1849 C Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20240

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are: Robert Thompson, III and Jeffrey M. Lippa
GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP
1200 17th Street, Suite 2400, Denver, CO 80202
Telephone: 303-572-6500
Facsimile: 303-572-6540
Email: thompsonIII@gtlaw.com; lippaj@gtlaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. \_\_\_\_\_

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

*(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))*

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* \_\_\_\_\_  
was received by me on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ .

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* \_\_\_\_\_ , who is  
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

Other *(specify)*: \_\_\_\_\_

My fees are \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for travel and \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for services, for a total of \$ \_\_\_\_\_ 0.00 .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's signature*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Printed name and title*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's address*

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of North Dakota

WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE

Plaintiff(s)

v.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; and MICHAEL S. BLACK

Defendant(s)

Civil Action No.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS
1849 C Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20240

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are:

Robert Thompson, III and Jeffrey M. Lippa
GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP
1200 17th Street, Suite 2400, Denver, CO 80202
Telephone: 303-572-6500
Facsimile: 303-572-6540
Email: thompsonIII@gtlaw.com; lippaj@gtlaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk



Civil Action No. \_\_\_\_\_

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

*(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))*

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* \_\_\_\_\_  
was received by me on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ .

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* \_\_\_\_\_ , who is  
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

Other *(specify)*:

My fees are \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for travel and \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for services, for a total of \$ \_\_\_\_\_ 0.00 .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's signature*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Printed name and title*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's address*

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of North Dakota

WESTERN ENERGY ALLIANCE

Plaintiff(s)

v.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; and MICHAEL S. BLACK

Defendant(s)

Civil Action No.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) MICHAEL S. BLACK, in his official Capacity as Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs 1849 C Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20240

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are:

Robert Thompson, III and Jeffrey M. Lippa GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP 1200 17th Street, Suite 2400, Denver, CO 80202 Telephone: 303-572-6500 Facsimile: 303-572-6540 Email: thompsonIII@gtlaw.com; lippaj@gtlaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. \_\_\_\_\_

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

*(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))*

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* \_\_\_\_\_  
was received by me on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ .

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* \_\_\_\_\_ , who is  
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* \_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_ on *(date)* \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because \_\_\_\_\_ ; or

Other *(specify)*: \_\_\_\_\_

My fees are \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for travel and \$ \_\_\_\_\_ for services, for a total of \$ \_\_\_\_\_ 0.00 .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's signature*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Printed name and title*

\_\_\_\_\_  
*Server's address*

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: